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7� YEA5S O) MO7IO1 CO175O/

)oU seYeQ GecaGes, 7ayOoU 'eYices, IQc. Kas sWooG aW WKe IoUeIUoQW oI moWioQ coQWUoO,
GUiYeQ Ey a Oegacy oI iQQoYaWioQ sSaUkeG Ey IouQGeU 3auO 7ayOoU's gUouQGEUeakiQg
OiquiG sSUiQg SaWeQWs. 7Kis SioQeeUiQg sSiUiW SUoSeOOeG WKe GeYeOoSmeQW oI
soSKisWicaWeG Yiscous GamSeUs, UeYoOuWioQi]iQg sKock aQG YiEUaWioQ coQWUoO. 7oGay,
7ayOoU 'eYices' SUoGucW SoUWIoOio e[WeUiGsiOaU EeyoQG GamSeUs, eQcomSassiQg
a wiGe aUUay oI aGYaQceG e7_���g9 'GissiSaWioQ soOuWioQs saIeguaUGiQg cUiWicaO
iQIUasWUucWuUe aQG Esy�Oem .�7,�� OUOGwiGe.,; IU_co_ 	 miWigaWiQg seismic imSacWs iQ
EuiOGiQgs aQG EUiGges io SUoWecWiQg �§7�Gi �siWiYg_ aeUqsSace aQG GeIeQse equiSmeQW,

7ayOoU 'eYices coQWiQues Wo GeOiYeU uQmaWcKeG SeUIoUmaQce aQG UeOiaEiOiWy.

E1/ICE ISIO1 S7A7EME17 -------

7ayOoU 'eYices, 	 ai'esWiQaWioQ EmSOoyeU oI CKoice wKeUe ouU seOI
emSoweUeCiQQoYaWiYe,�aQG WaOeQWeG woUkIoUce Weams Wo successIuOOy e[ecuWe
aQG� GeOiYeU �oU)
 sWakeKoOGeU commiWmeQWs wKiOe coQcuUUeQWOy GesigQiQg aQG
quaOiIyiQg WKe Qe[W geQeUaWioQ oI SKock aQG ViEUaWioQ MaQagemeQW SysWems aQG

;Co �mSoQeQWs Wo SUoWecW OiIe, SOaWIoUm, aQG sWUucWuUes WKUougKouW WKe woUOG wiWK WKe
KigKesW sWaQGaUG oI iQWegUiWy aQG e[ceOOeQce UesuOWiQg iQ SUoIiWaEOe gUowWK.



SiQceUeOy,

7imoWKy -. SoSko
CKieI E[ecuWiYe OIIiceU

/E77E5 7O OU5 S+A5E+O/'E5S

)iscaO yeaU 202� was aQoWKeU YeUy gooG yeaU IoU ouU ComSaQy as ouU 7eam
s GisciSOiQeG aGKeUeQce Wo, aQG
e[ecuWioQ oI, ouU SUioUiWi]eG gUowWK aQG imSUoYemeQW camSaigQs UesuOWeG iQ WKe IoOOowiQg acKieYemeQWs IoU
)Y2�:

)uOO yeaU %ookiQgs oI $����M� �UG KigKesW iQ ouU comSaQy
s KisWoUy (cuUUeQW UecoUG was seW iQ )Y2�, aW
$4�.� M wiWK WKe aYeUage oYeU WKe �0 SUioU IiscaO yeaUs aW $��.4M�

• 1ew UecoUG KigK IuOO yeaU SaOes oI $���3M (SUioU UecoUG was $44.6M seW OasW yeaU, )Y24, wiWK WKe aYeUage
oYeU WKe �0 SUioU IiscaO yeaUs aW $��.2M�

7Kis Kas us eQWeUiQg )Y26 wiWK a %ackOog oI $�7�1M� wKicK is WKe � UG KigKesW iQ WKe comSaQy
s KisWoUy
(cuUUeQW UecoUG was seW OasW yeaU )Y24, aW $��.� M wiWK WKe aYeUage oYeU WKe SUioU �0 IiscaO yeaUs aW $22.8M�

• 1ew UecoUG KigK IuOO yeaU 1eW IQcome oI $9��M/���3� oI saOes (SUioU UecoUG was $�.0M�20.2� oI saOes seW
OasW yeaU, )Y24, wiWK WKe aYeUages oYeU WKe SUioU �0 IiscaO yeaUs aW $4.�M��2.2� oI saOes�

• CusWomeU OQ-7ime 'eOiYeUy oI 91 � (cuUUeQW UecoUG oI �2� was seW OasW yeaU, )Y24�

• )aciOiWies aQG equiSmeQW iQYesWmeQW oI $���M iQ suSSoUW oI ouU WaUgeWeG IuWuUe gUowWK

• 5&' iQYesWmeQW oI $0.44M iQ suSSoUW oI ouU WaUgeWeG IuWuUe gUowWK

• �� Qew memEeUs aGGeG Wo ouU 7'I 7eam iQ )Y2� iQ suSSoUW oI ouU WaUgeWeG gUowWK

OQce agaiQ, aOO WKUee oI ouU cusWomeU IaciQg SUoGucW
gUouSs� AeUosSace�'eIeQse, SWUucWuUaO aQG IQGusWUiaO,
coQWUiEuWeG sigQiIicaQWOy Wo ouU UesuOWs, wiWK ouU
AeUosSace�'eIeQse SUoGucW gUouS KaYiQg aQoWKeU
SaUWicuOaUOy sWUoQg yeaU IiQisKiQg wiWK saOes aW $2�.� M,
WKe KigKesW iQ WKe comSaQy
s KisWoUy, Ys. WKe aYeUage oYeU
WKe SUioU �0 IiscaO yeaUs oI $�4.�M SeU yeaU. AGGiWioQaOOy,
EookiQgs IiQisKeG aW $2�.4M, � UG KigKesW iQ ouU comSaQy
s
KisWoUy, Ys. WKe cuUUeQW UecoUG seW iQ )Y2�, aW $�0.2M wiWK
WKe aYeUage oYeU WKe �0 SUioU IiscaO yeaUs aW $��.�M.

WKiOe ouU SWUucWuUaO SUoGucW gUouS coQWiQueG Wo Iace
maUkeW KeaGwiQGs Gue Wo KigKeU iQWeUesW aQG IoUeigQ
e[cKaQge UaWes, ouU IQGusWUiaO SUoGucW gUouS KaG UecoUG
KigK saOes aQG EookiQgs aW $4.�M aQG $4.2M Ys. WKe
aYeUages oYeU WKe SUioU �0 yeaUs oI $2.6M aQG $2.�M
UesSecWiYeOy.

OQce agaiQ, aOO tKree oI oXr
cXVtomer IaciQg SroGXct groXSV;
AeroVSace�'eIeQVe, StrXctXraO

aQG IQGXVtriaO, coQtriEXteG
VigQiIicaQtO\ to oXr reVXOtV, ZitK
oXr AeroVSace�'eIeQVe SroGXct

groXS KaviQg aQotKer SarticXOarO\
VtroQg \ear IiQiVKiQg ZitK VaOeV

at $2�.�M, tKe KigKeVt iQ tKe
comSaQ\'V KiVtor\...

7Ke IacW WKaW ouU Weam was aEOe Wo maiQWaiQ a coQsisWeQW OeYeO oI 5&' yeaU oQ yeaU wKiOe suSSoUWiQg iQcUeaseG
cusWomeU IuQGeG GeYeOoSmeQW coQcuUUeQW wiWK seWWiQg a Qew UecoUG KigK saOes OeYeO is YeUy eQcouUagiQg.

As we coQWiQue Wo ceOeEUaWe ouU �0WK yeaU iQ EusiQess WKis )Y26, I coQIiGeQWOy Oook IoUwaUG Wo maQy moUe yeaUs
oI SUoIiWaEOe gUowWK GUiYeQ Ey ouU coQWiQueG iQYesWmeQW iQ ouU SeoSOe, WecKQoOogy, equiSmeQW aQG IaciOiWies.



SA/ES

G5OWI1G OU5 3O57)O/IO
CoQtiQXiQg ZitK tKe treQG tKat I reSorteG oQ OaVt \ear, VaOeV oI
aeroVSace aQG GeIeQVe SroGXctV iQcreaVeG \et agaiQ tKiV SaVt
\ear ZitK VaOeV oI $2�.�M, accoXQtiQg Ior aSSroximateO\ �9� oI
totaO reveQXe. 	PP

'eaU SKaUeKoOGeUs,

As WKe ComSaQy ceOeEUaWes �0 yeaUs siQce iW was iQcoUSoUaWeG oQ -uOy 22, ����, I am KaSSy Wo UeSoUW
WKaW we aUe coQWiQuiQg oQ a SaWK oI SUoIiWaEOe gUowWK as we UecoUGeG a UecoUG yeaU IoU )Y202� iQ WeUms
oI EoWK UeYeQue aQG QeW iQcome. 7Kis was WKe UesuOW oI a coQceUWeG Weam eIIoUW GesSiWe some cKaOOeQges
wiWK maUkeW IoUces aQG a Iew uQe[SecWeG GeOays iQ UeceiYiQg aQWiciSaWeG oUGeUs. CoQsequeQWOy, ouU EackOog
oQ May ��, 202� was $2�.�M YeUsus OasW yeaU
s UecoUG oI $��.�M. +oweYeU, as ouU EusiQess is cycOicaO
aQG some oI ouU SUoMecWs KaYe suEsWaQWiaOOy OaUge YaOue, WKis IOucWuaWioQ iQ EackOog is QoUmaO aQG Goes QoW
QecessaUiOy IoUecasW a geQeUaO WUeQG. AcWiYiWy iQ EusiQess GeYeOoSmeQW aQG saOes UemaiQs KeaOWKy IoU aOO �
SUoGucW gUouSs aQG WKe ouWOook is SosiWiYe.

CoQWiQuiQg wiWK WKe WUeQG WKaW I UeSoUWeG oQ OasW yeaU, saOes oI aeUosSace aQG GeIeQse SUoGucWs iQcUeaseG yeW
agaiQ WKis SasW yeaU wiWK saOes oI $2�.� M, accouQWiQg IoU aSSUo[imaWeOy ��� oI WoWaO UeYeQue. 7Kis KeaOWKy
YoOume UemaiQs a comEiQaWioQ oI maWuUe SUogUams aQG Qew GeYeOoSmeQW SUoMecWs, some oI wKicK aUe
IuQGeG Ey ouU cusWomeUs wKo coQWiQue Wo UeOy oQ ouU uQique eQgiQeeUiQg aQG maQuIacWuUiQg e[SeUWise.
AGGiWioQaOOy, we coQWiQue Wo EuiOG oQ WKaW momeQWum Ey WakiQg oQ moUe coQWeQW IUom cusWomeUs wKo aUe
IaciQg suSSOy cKaiQ cKaOOeQges wiWK oWKeU suSSOieUs. As we coQWiQue Wo SeUIoUm weOO, we e[SecW WKaW UeYeQue
wiOO coQWiQue Wo EuiOG aQG sKouOG Ee susWaiQaEOe IoU maQy yeaUs. We aUe sWiOO SOaQWiQg seeGs IoU IuWuUe gUowWK.

)eaWuUeG iQ WKis AQQuaO 5eSoUW is a SUoMecW iQ ouU sWUucWuUaO SUoGucWs gUouS WKaW we comSOeWeG aW 6�� S
9eUmoQW AYe. iQ /os AQgeOes. 7Kis EuiOGiQg is OocaWeG MusW wesW oI GowQWowQ /A aQG is aQ �8�sWoUy KigK�Uise
WKaW was oUigiQaOOy EuiOW iQ WKe eaUOy ���0
s aQG Kas UeceQWOy EeeQ coQYeUWeG IUom oIIice sSace Wo aSaUWmeQWs
aQG UeWaiO sSace Ey -amisoQ SeUYices. 7Kis UequiUeG a seismic UeWUoIiW oI WKe EuiOGiQg iQcOuGiQg �0 OaUge
seismic GamSeUs WKaW weUe successIuOOy iQsWaOOeG OasW yeaU. 3Oease eQMoy WKe SicWuUes wiWKiQ WKis 5eSoUW.

As SUeYiousOy UeSoUWeG, I KaYe GeciGeG Wo eQWeU iQWo semi�UeWiUemeQW as oI WKis SasW -uQe �, 202�. I wiOO
UemaiQ oQ WKe %oaUG oI 'iUecWoUs uQWiO WKe AGM iQ OcWoEeU, aQG I wiOO UemaiQ aQ emSOoyee oI WKe ComSaQy
uQWiO 1oYemEeU �0, 202�. I wouOG Oike Wo WKaQk ouU sKaUeKoOGeUs IoU suSSoUWiQg me, esSeciaOOy IoU WKe OasW �
yeaUs wKiOe I seUYeG as 3UesiGeQW aQG %oaUG MemEeU. We KaYe seeQ maQy cKaQges iQ WKe ComSaQy oYeU
maQy yeaUs, aQG my caUeeU Kas EeeQ quiWe saWisIyiQg. I KaYe KaG gUeaW IoUWuQe Wo Ee aEOe Wo coQWUiEuWe Wo
WKe gUowWK aQG success oI a comSaQy WKaW acKieYeG aQ uQequaOeG UeSuWaWioQ IoU SUoYiGiQg woUOG�cOass
KaUGwaUe aQG seUYices Wo sucK aQ iQWeUesWiQg aQG GiYeUse cusWomeU Ease. AOWKougK I am eQWeUiQg UeWiUemeQW,
I Oook IoUwaUG Wo maQy moUe yeaUs oI gUowWK aQG SUosSeUiWy IoU 7ayOoU 'eYices�

7Kis yeaU, we wiOO Ee KosWiQg a SKysicaO AGM, so SOease MoiQ us aW WKe meeWiQg iQ AmKeUsW, 1Y iQ OcWoEeU
wKeUe we wiOO Ee UeYiewiQg WKe yeaU aQG SUeseQWiQg some oI WKe coQWiQueG SUogUess.

SiQceUeOy,

AOaQ KOemEc]yk
3UesiGeQW
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-amisoQ SeUYices

37, 	 \W:i 	 enieD
Oos aQgeOes, ca

OUigiQaOOy EuiOW iQ WKe eaUOy ���0s as 2�6,000 squaUe IeeW oI SUemieU oIIice
sSace, 6��9eUmoQW iQ KoUeaWowQ is uQGeUgoiQg a sigQiIicaQWWUaQsIoUmaWioQ.
'UiYeQ Ey WKe OasWiQg eIIecWs oI WKe SaQGemic oQ commeUciaO UeaO esWaWe,
WKis EuiOGiQg, Oike maQy acUoss maMoU ciWies, is EeiQg coQYeUWeG iQWo 2��
moGeUQ UesiGeQWiaO uQiWs. 7Kis UecOassiIicaWioQ QecessiWaWes a seismic
UeWUoIiW Wo eQKaQce eaUWKquake UesisWaQce aQG eQsuUe UesiGeQW saIeWy.

7Ke sWUucWuUe is a WySicaO GesigQ IUom WKaW eUa — a SWeeO MomeQW )Uame
sWUucWuUe wiWK kQowQ GeIicieQcies iQ WKe Eeam�coOumQ weOGs WKaW weUe
GiscoYeUeG aIWeU WKe ���4 1oUWKUiGge EaUWKquake. 'amSeUs SUoYiGe aQ
e[ceOOeQW soOuWioQ Wo WKese WySes oI EuiOGiQgs Eecause WKey UeGuce WKe
seismic GemaQG oQ WKose coQQecWioQs Wo WKe SoiQW wKeUe WKey UemaiQ
usaEOe wiWKouW aGGiWioQaO moGiIicaWioQs. IQ WKis EuiOGiQg, GamSeUs weUe
WuQeG Wo WKe EuiOGiQg EeKaYioU Wo UeGuce WKe amouQW oI woUk QeeGeG EeyoQG
WKe GamSeU iQsWaOOaWioQ. )ouU GamSeUs weUe aGGeG oQ eacK IOooU IoU mosW
oI WKe EuiOGiQg KeigKW aEoYe WKe SaUkiQg IOooUs iQ WKe OoweU OeYeOs. 'amSeUs
aUe sWUaWegicaOOy iQsWaOOeG iQ OocaWioQs wKeUe WKey couOG Ee emEeGGeG iQ
waOOs GiYiGiQg uQiWs, aOOowiQg IoU ma[imum usaEOe sSace.

7Kese WySes oI EuiOGiQgs aUe SUeYaOeQW WKUougKouW CaOiIoUQia aQG aUe
iGeaO caQGiGaWes IoU WKe imSOemeQWaWioQ oI GamSeUs iQ UeWUoIiWs. As oOG
oIIice sSaces aUe coQYeUWeG Wo UesiGeQWiaO, oU ciWies, Oike SaQWa MoQica, seW
uS oUGiQaQces Wo maQGaWe WKe UeSaiU oI WKis WySe oI sWUucWuUe, 7ayOoU is
weOO SosiWioQeG Wo sKow Kow GamSeUs aUe WKe EesW soOuWioQ iQ WKis WySe oI
aSSOicaWioQ.
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• OecWUic 9eKicOes (E9� KaYe sigQiIicaQWOy
gUowQ iQ SoSuOaUiWy� makiQg uS 1�� oI

Qew YeKicOes SuUcKaseG iQ WKe UQiWeG SWaWes
Ey WKe geQeUaO coQsumeU iQ ���5� %eyoQG
maWuUiQg E9 WecKQoOogies aQG esWaEOisKiQg
WKeiU cuUUeQW auWomoWiYe OiQeuSs� seYeUaO OaUge
auWomakeUs aUe WeamiQg uS wiWK smaOOeU
aYiaWioQ sWaUWuSs Wo GeYeOoS EOecWUic 9eUWicaO
7ake-OII aQG /aQGiQg aiUcUaIW� oU e97O/s as
WKey aUe commoQOy caOOeG� 7Ke gOoEaO e97O/
maUkeW is e[SeUieQciQg uQSaUaOOeOeG gUowWK�
wKicK is SUoMecWeG Wo UeacK $��+ EiOOioQ Ey
��3� Gue Wo GemaQG iQ OaUgeU KigK-WUaIIic
meWUoSoOiWaQ aUeas� 7Kese e97O/s oIIeU a
coQYeQieQW aOWeUQaWiYe Wo WUaGiWioQaO uUEaQ
WUaQsiW aQG aUe iQWeQGeG Wo SUoYiGe sKoUW
GisWaQce aiU WUaYeO wiWK a Oow Qoise sigQaWuUe�
'esSiWe gUeaW aGYaQcemeQWs� WKeUe aUe sWiOO
some OimiWaWioQs Gue Wo EaWWeUy WecKQoOogy�

+oweYeU� WKe KyEUiG UA9 maUkeW is oQe
WKaW caQ soOYe maQy oI WKese issues aQG
Kas GemaQGs acUoss YaUious secWoUs� EoWK
iQ commeUciaO aQG GeIeQse� 'eIiQeG as�
"uQmaQQeG aeUiaO YeKicOes WKaW uWiOi]e muOWiSOe
SUoSuOsioQ sysWems"� KyEUiG UA9s comEiQe
coQYeQWioQaO IueO-SoweUeG comSoQeQWs wiWK
eOecWUic SoweU souUces� 7Kese YeKicOes� uQOike
e97O/s� caQ suSSoUW KeaYieU SayOoaGs� WUaYeO
OoQgeU GisWaQces� aQG caQ Ee uWiOi]eG IoU
muOWiSOe UoOes sucK as OogisWics� suUYeiOOaQce�
eQgage� aQG GeIeaW� SKoUW Wake-oIIs uWiOi]iQg
coQYeQWioQaO OaQGiQg geaUs make WKe YeKicOes
e[WUemeOy eIIicieQW� KoweYeU� WKey aOso KaYe
WKe YeUsaWiOiWy Wo Wake-oII aQG OaQG YeUWicaOOy iI
coQGiWioQs aUe UequiUeG� WiWK gUowiQg cosWs

Wo cuUUeQW SUogUams aQG cKaQges iQ moGeUQ
waUIaUe� iW is Qo suUSUise WKaW WKese muOWiUoWoU�
uQmaQQeG KyEUiG aiUcUaIW aUe UeGeIiQiQg WKe
aeUosSace iQGusWUy�

7ayOoU 'eYices� IQc� is sWUaWegicaOOy SosiWioQeG
Wo suSSoUW WKis GemaQG Ey oIIeUiQg a wiGe
YaUieWy oI WecKQicaO soOuWioQs IoU moWioQ
coQWUoO aQG eQeUgy maQagemeQW oI YaUious
aiUcUaIW sysWems� IQ ouU 7�WK yeaU� we KaYe EuiOW
aQ e[WeQsiYe SoUWIoOio oI SUoGucWs quaOiIieG
aQG WUusWeG oQ YaUious aiUcUaIW suSSoUWiQg WKe
aeUosSace aQG GeIeQse iQGusWUy� OuU KyEUiG
OaQGiQg geaU sysWems oIIeU aQ aOWeUQaWiYe
Wo WUaGiWioQaO oOeo sysWems wiWK imSUoYeG
eIIicieQcy aQG UeOiaEiOiWy� wiWKouW sacUiIiciQg
weigKW oU sSace� OuU SUoGucW OiQe oI GamSeUs�
acWuaWoUs� macKiQeG sSUiQgs� aQG moUe KaYe
EeeQ aGaSWeG IoU use iQ YaUious aiUcUaIW
suEsysWems Wo coQWUoO SoWeQWiaO aQG kiQeWic
eQeUgy saIeOy� UeOiaEOy� aQG aIIoUGaEOy�

AGGiWioQaOOy� 7ayOoU 'eYices is iQ WKe SUocess
oI EuiOGiQg a sWaWe-oI-WKe-aUW GeYeOoSmeQW OaE
WKaW wiOO Ee aEOe Wo KaQGOe UaSiG SUoWoWySiQg
caSaEiOiWies� AOWKougK we aOUeaGy Sossess
YeUWicaOOy iQWegUaWeG macKiQiQg caSaEiOiWy� WKis
aGGeG IaciOiWy wiOO aOOow IoU aQ e[WUa OeYeO oI
agiOiWy� wKeUe SUoWoWySes caQ Ee macKiQeG
aQG assemEOeG comSOeWeOy seSaUaWe IUom ouU
cuUUeQW SUoGucWioQ oSeUaWioQs�

We aUe e[ciWeG Wo see wKaW WKe IuWuUe KoOGs
IoU WKe iQGusWUy� aQG eYeQ moUe e[ciWeG Wo see
ouU UoOe iQ SUoWecWiQg WKe IuWuUe oI IOigKW�
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gi OXr reveQXe oI $46.� miOOioQ ZaV a QeZ KigK mark Ior

tKe comSaQ\, XS 4� Irom FY24. 3aVt GXe orGerV to oXr
cXVtomerV Zere GecreaVeG E\ 2��. 33

'eaU SKaUeKoOGeUs,

7Ke 7ayOoU 'eYices Weam KaG a sWUoQg e[ecuWioQ SeUIoUmaQce iQ )Y2�. OuU UeYeQue oI $46.� miOOioQ was a
Qew KigK maUk IoU WKe comSaQy, uS 4� IUom )Y24. 3asW Gue oUGeUs Wo ouU cusWomeUs weUe GecUeaseG Ey
2�� IUom )Y24, wiWK aQ aYeUage oI si[ SeU moQWK. 7Kis was eQaEOeG Ey sysWemic SUocess imSUoYemeQWs
Wo EeWWeU aOigQ wiWK iQWeUQaO aQG e[WeUQaO OeaG Wimes, OeaGiQg Wo imSUoYeG iQWeUQaO aQG e[WeUQaO SaUWs suSSOy.
7Kese imSUoYemeQWs UesuOWeG iQ a secoQG KaOI cusWomeU oQ Wime GeOiYeUy oI �4�. SuSSOieU oQ Wime GeOiYeUy
aOso imSUoYeG Wo �2�, wKicK is a ��� imSUoYemeQW IUom )Y2�. OuU SaIeWy SUogUam is coQWiQuiQg Wo Iocus
oQ SUoacWiYe imSUoYemeQW SUoMecWs WKUougK seYeUaO cUoss IuQcWioQaO commiWWees wKicK eYaOuaWe cuUUeQW
SUocesses aQG KeOS GUiYe cKaQge.

IQYesWmeQW aQG GeYeOoSmeQW oI ouU emSOoyees aQG eQKaQcemeQW oI ouU oUgaQi]aWioQaO sWUucWuUe UemaiQeG
a key Iocus aUea iQ )Y2�. E[WeQsiYe iQWeUQaO /eaGeUsKiS WUaiQiQg IoU aQ aGGiWioQaO WweQWy memEeUs oI ouU
Weam occuUUeG iQ )Y2�, wKicK aGGeG Wo WKe WoWaO comSOeWiQg WKe WUaiQiQg Wo QeaUOy 40 oYeU WKe SasW Wwo yeaUs.
7Kis WUaiQiQg is suSSoUWiQg ouU maQagemeQW cuOWuUe wKicK is EuiOW oQ GeYeOoSiQg SeoSOe aQG eQKaQciQg ouU
SWUaWegic WoUkIoUce 3OaQQiQg SUocess, EuiOGiQg GeSWK wiWKiQ WKe oUgaQi]aWioQ. ImSOemeQWaWioQ oI a Qew
IQWegUaWeG 3UoGucW 7eam sWUucWuUe iQ OaWe )Y2�, wKicK is cUoss IuQcWioQaOOy aOigQeG, wiOO aOOow IoU IocuseG
maUkeW acWiYiWy wiWKiQ WKe oUgaQi]aWioQ.

)iQaOOy, ouU SigQaWuUe SUocesses oI SWUaWegy 'eSOoymeQW, IQWegUaWeG 3UoGucW 5oaGmaSs, SaOes, IQYeQWoUy
aQG OSeUaWioQs 3OaQQiQg (S7O3�, caSaciWy SOaQQiQg aQG GaiOy SeUIoUmaQce EoaUG UeYiews eQaEOes aOO
IuQcWioQs Wo Ee aOigQeG. 7Ke OSeUaWioQs aQG SuSSOy CKaiQ Weams aUe emEeGGeG iQWo 7ayOoU 'eYices
sigQaWuUe SUocesses wKicK aOOow ouU Weam Wo e[ecuWe iQ WKe sKoUW WeUm aQG GeYeOoS SOaQs Wo suSSoUW WKe
EusiQess
s OoQg�WeUm goaOs.

We UemaiQ weOO SosiWioQeG Wo suSSoUW 7ayOoU 'eYices
 IuWuUe SUoIiWaEOe gUowWK SOaQ aQG KeOS saWisIy aOO ouU
sWakeKoOGeUs.

SiQceUeOy,
5oEeUW CoQUaG
9ice 3UesiGeQW oI OSeUaWioQs



7weQWy si[ caSiWaO iQYesWmeQW SUoMecWs iQ ouU macKiQe sKoS� assemEOy� WesW aQG SaiQW aUeas
wKicK iQcOuGeG Qew SUoGucWioQ / WesW equiSmeQW� Qew quaOiWy measuUemeQW GeYices�
maWeUiaO KaQGOiQg aQG IaciOiWy uSgUaGes UesuOWiQg iQ EeWWeU eUgoQomics� SUoGucWiYiWy�
quaOiWy aQG OeaG Wime�

�
WoUkSOace oUgaQi]aWioQ SUoMecWs (YisuaO IacWoUy� weUe comSOeWeG iQ some oI ouU macKiQe
sKoS aUeas� wKicK iQcOuGeG seWuS UeGucWioQ oI 1�-15�� 1ew YisuaO IacWoUy SUoMecWs KaYe
sWaUWeG iQ WKe assemEOy aQG WesW aUeas�

7ayOoU 'eYices KaG a sWUoQg OSeUaWioQaO E[ceOOeQce IouQGaWioQ oI coQWiQuous
imSUoYemeQW Wo EuiOG oQ iQ )Y�5 aQG WKe Weam GeOiYeUeG oQ oYeU oQe KuQGUeG
imSUoYemeQW iGeas / SUoMecWs� 7Kese SUoMecWs UaQgeG IUom "go Go iW
s" Wo

sWUucWuUeG Weam acWiYiWies aQG SUocess cKaQges�

'eYeOoSiQg a simSOeU SaIeWy SUocess IoU AsSecWs
aQG ImSacWs eYaOuaWioQs aQG UaWiQgs wKicK wiOO
GUiYe a SUoacWiYe aSSUoacK IoU EQYiUoQmeQWaO K3I
imSUoYemeQWs�

7
'eYeOoSeG a measuUemeQW WooO IoU WesWiQg
caSaciWy wKicK SUoYiGeG iQsigKW iQWo EoWWOeQeck
aUeas� UesuOWiQg iQ iQYesWmeQW oI EoWK equiSmeQW
aQG WecKQiciaQ UesouUce�

IQYesWmeQW iQ SUeYeWaWiYe maiQWeQaQce soIWwaUe
wKicK wiOO imSUoYe maQuaO SaSeU GUiYeQ SUocess
Wo a moUe SUoacWiYe� meWUic GUiYeQ eOecWUoQic
SUocess�

"3aSeUOess" SUoMecW weOO uQGeUway Wo eOimiQaWe
QeeG IoU SUiQWiQg MoE SaSeUwoUk-aOO iWems QeeGeG
IoU MoE comSOeWioQ SUoYiGeG eOecWUoQicaOOy�

IQWeUQaOOy SUomoWeG a Qew maiQWeQaQce cooUGiQaWoU
SosiWioQ Wo GUiYe caSiWaO SUoMecW iQYesWmeQWs aQG
imSUoYemeQWs iQ iQIUasWUucWuUe�

5aSiG 'eYeOoSmeQW /AgiOiWyIocuseG acWioQsWo KeOS "sWUeamOiQe" Qew SUoGucW iQWUoGucWioQs
Wo cusWomeUs - UesuOWiQg iQ Qew IoOOow oQ SUoGucWioQ oUGeUs IUom cusWomeUs�



SiQceUeOy,
3auO +eaUy
CKieI )iQaQciaO OIIiceU

)I1A1CIA/S

S75E1G7+ I1 7+E 1UM%E5S
ii 'eVSite tKe iQKereQt SOaQQiQg cKaOOeQgeV, reveQXe iQcreaVeG 4�

Irom tKe Srior \ear ZitK aOO eQG XVer cXVtomer groXSV KigKer. 	 33

'eaU SKaUeKoOGeUs,

)iscaO yeaU 202� ()Y2�� IiQaQciaOs UeIOecWeG WKe WimiQg aQG scaOe eOemeQWs oI a OoQg�cycOe, SUoMecW EaseG
EusiQess. QuaUWeUOy UesuOWs sKoweG suEsWaQWiaOOy moUe YaUiaEiOiWy comSaUeG Wo UeceQW SUioU yeaUs Gue Wo
WKe WimiQg oI EookiQgs. 'esSiWe WKe iQKeUeQW SOaQQiQg cKaOOeQges, UeYeQue iQcUeaseG 4� IUom WKe SUioU
yeaU wiWK aOO eQG useU cusWomeU gUouSs KigKeU. CusWomeU maUkeW saOes coQceQWUaWioQs weUe simiOaU Wo
IiscaO yeaU 2024 ()Y24�, KoweYeU, WKeUe was a KeaYieU iQWeUQaWioQaO saOes emSKasis (uS �6�� as SWUucWuUaO
oSSoUWuQiWies iQ Asia KeOSeG oIIseW a soIW GomesWic maUkeW. 7Ke yeaU�eQG EackOog SosiWioQ IiQisKeG GowQ
�8� IUom May 2024 aQG is weigKWeG WowaUGs aeUosSace�GeIeQse cusWomeUs aW ��� YeUsus 2�� IoU
commeUciaO cusWomeUs.

GUoss 3UoIiW iQcUeaseG Wo $2�.� miOOioQ, oU 46� oI saOes, IUom $20.8 miOOioQ oU 4�� oI saOes iQ )Y24.
)Y2� caSiWaO e[SeQGiWuUes oI $2.6 miOOioQ weUe mosWOy GiUecWeG aW macKiQeUy aQG equiSmeQW caSaEiOiWies.
5eseaUcK aQG 'eYeOoSmeQW cosWs oI $0.4 miOOioQ weUe UeOaWiYeOy IOaW wKeQ comSaUeG Wo )Y24 wKiOe IuQGeG
GeYeOoSmeQW coQWiQueG Wo gUow wiWK GeIeQse sSoQsoUeG 5&' UeYeQue 40� KigKeU WKaQ OasW yeaU. OSeUaWiQg
IQcome, wKicK was uQIaYoUaEOy imSacWeG Ey aQ iQcUease Wo WKe AccouQWs 5eceiYaEOe UeseUYe iQ UesSoQse
Wo a OaUge SWUucWuUaO ouWsWaQGiQg UeceiYaEOe, IiQisKeG aW $�.6 miOOioQ YeUsus WKe SUioU yeaU aW $�.� miOOioQ,
EoWK 2� � oI saOes. EaUQiQgs SeU sKaUe weQW uS Wo $�.0� IUom $2.68 iQ )Y24.

7Ke UeGuceG saOes oUGeU EackOog SosiWioQ aOoQg wiWK GomesWic SWUucWuUaO macUoecoQomic coQGiWioQs
SUeseQW cKaOOeQges as we eQWeU IiscaO yeaU 2026. OQ WKe oWKeU KaQG, AeUosSace SiSeOiQe aQG cusWomeU
IuQGeG GeYeOoSmeQW acWiYiWy is UoEusW. 7Ke %aOaQce SKeeW UemaiQs sWUoQg aQG wiOO coQWiQue Wo suSSoUW
iQYesWmeQWs WKaW EeQeIiW WKe OoQg�WeUm ecoQomics oI WKe EusiQess.
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Cautionary Statement

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a "safe harbor" for forward-looking statements. Information in this
Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and elsewhere in this Form 10-
K that does not consist of historical facts are "forward-looking statements." Statements accompanied or qualified by, or containing,
words such as "may," "will," "should," "believes," "expects," "intends," "plans," "projects," "estimates," "predicts," "potential,"
"outlook," "forecast," "anticipates," "presume," "assume" and "optimistic" constitute forward-looking statements and, as such, are
not a guarantee of future performance. These statements involve factors, risks and uncertainties, the impact or occurrence of which
can cause actual results to differ materially from the expected results described in such statements. Risks and uncertainties can
include, among others: fluctuations in general business cycles and changing economic conditions; variations in timing and amount
of customer orders; changing product demand and industry capacity; increased competition and pricing pressures; advances in
technology that can reduce the demand for the Company's products, as well as other factors, many or all of which may be beyond
the Company's control. Consequently, investors should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as predictive of
future results. Except as required by law, the Company disclaims any obligation to release publicly any updates or revisions to the
forward-looking statements herein to reflect any change in the Company's expectations with regard thereto, or any changes in events,
conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The Company's consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles. The preparation of the Company's financial statements requires management to make estimates, assumptions
and judgments that affect the amounts reported. These estimates, assumptions and judgments are affected by management's
application of accounting policies, which are discussed in Note 1, "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies," of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements and elsewhere in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. As discussed below, our
financial position or results of operations may be materially affected when reported under different conditions or when using different
assumptions in the application of such policies. In the event estimates or assumptions prove to be different from actual amounts,
adjustments are made in subsequent periods to reflect more current information. Management believes the following critical
accounting policies affect the more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of the Company's financial
statements.

Accounts Receivable

Our ability to collect outstanding receivables from our customers is critical to our operating performance and cash flows. Accounts
receivable are stated at an amount management expects to collect from outstanding balances. Management provides for estimated
credit losses through a charge to expense and a credit to a valuation allowance based on its assessment of the current status of
individual accounts after considering the age of each receivable and communications with the customers involved. Balances that
are collected, for which a credit to a valuation allowance had previously been recorded, result in a current-period reversal of the
earlier transaction charging expense and crediting a valuation allowance. Balances that are still outstanding after management has
used reasonable collection efforts are written off through a charge to the valuation allowance and a credit to accounts receivable in
the current period. The actual amount of accounts written off over the five year period ended May 31, 2025 equaled 0.2% of sales
for that period. The balance of the valuation allowance has increased to $564,000 at May 31, 2025 from $29,000 at May 31, 2024
due to the uncertainty of collecting a $751,000 balance overdue on a structural project. The Company is in discussions with the
customer regarding payment of this balance.



Inventory

Inventory is stated at the lower of average cost or net realizable value. Average cost approximates first-in, first-out cost.

Maintenance and other inventory represent stock that is estimated to have a product life-cycle in excess of twelve-months. This
stock represents certain items the Company is required to maintain for service of products sold, and items that are generally subject
to spontaneous ordering.

This inventory is particularly sensitive to technical obsolescence in the near term due to its use in industries characterized by the
continuous introduction of new product lines, rapid technological advances, and product obsolescence. Therefore, management of
the Company has recorded an allowance for potential inventory obsolescence. Based on certain assumptions and judgments made
from the information available at that time, we determine the amount in the inventory allowance. If these estimates and related
assumptions or the market changes, we may be required to record additional reserves. Historically, actual results have not varied
materially from the Company's estimates. There was $107,000 and $791,000 of inventory disposed of during the years ended May
31, 2025 and 2024, respectively. The provision for potential inventory obsolescence was zero and $386,000 for the years ended
May 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when, or as, the Company transfers control of promised products or services to a customer in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring those products or services.

A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer and is the unit of account.
A contract's transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as, the
performance obligation is satisfied. The majority of our contracts have a single performance obligation as the promise to transfer the
individual goods or services is not separately identifiable from other promises in the contracts which are, therefore, not distinct.
Promised goods or services that are immaterial in the context of the contract are not separately assessed as performance obligations.

For contracts with customers in which the Company satisfies a promise to the customer to provide a product that has no alternative
use to the Company and the Company has enforceable rights to payment for progress completed to date inclusive of profit, the
Company satisfies the performance obligation and recognizes revenue over time (generally less than one year), using costs incurred
to date relative to total estimated costs at completion to measure progress toward satisfying our performance obligations. Incurred
cost represents work performed, which corresponds with, and thereby best depicts, the transfer of control to the customer. Contract
costs include labor, material and overhead. Total estimated costs for each of the contracts are estimated based on a combination of
historical costs of manufacturing similar products and estimates or quotes from vendors for supplying parts or services towards the
completion of the manufacturing process. Adjustments to cost and profit estimates are made periodically due to changes in job
performance, job conditions and estimated profitability, including those arising from final contract settlements. These changes may
result in revisions to costs and income and are recognized in the period in which the revisions are determined. Any losses expected
to be incurred on contracts in progress are charged to operations in the period such losses are determined. If total costs calculated
upon completion of the manufacturing process in the current period for a contract are more than the estimated total costs at
completion used to calculate revenue in a prior period, then the profits in the current period will be lower than if the estimated costs
used in the prior period calculation were equal to the actual total costs upon completion. Historically, actual results have not varied
materially from the Company's estimates. Other sales to customers are recognized upon shipment to the customer based on contract
prices and terms. In the year ended May 31, 2025, 68% of revenue was recorded for contracts in which revenue was recognized
over time while 32% was recognized at a point in time. In the year ended May 31, 2024, 59% of revenue was recorded for contracts
in which revenue was recognized over time while 41% was recognized at a point in time.

For financial statement presentation purposes, the Company nets progress billings against the total costs incurred and estimated
earnings on uncompleted contracts. The asset, "costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings," represents revenues recognized
in excess of amounts billed. The liability, "billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings," represents billings in excess of
revenues recognized.



Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes provides for the tax effects of transactions reported in the financial statements regardless of when
such taxes are payable. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary
differences between the tax and financial statement basis of assets and liabilities. The deferred tax assets relate principally to asset
valuation allowances such as inventory obsolescence reserves and bad debt reserves and also to liabilities including warranty
reserves, accrued vacation, accrued commissions and others. The deferred tax liabilities relate primarily to differences between
financial statement and tax depreciation. Deferred taxes are based on tax laws currently enacted with tax rates expected to be in
effect when the taxes are actually paid or recovered.

Realization of the deferred tax assets is dependent on generating sufficient taxable income at the time temporary differences become
deductible. The Company provides a valuation allowance to the extent that deferred tax assets may not be realized. A valuation
allowance has not been recorded against the deferred tax assets since management believes it is more likely than not that the deferred
tax assets are recoverable. The Company considers future taxable income and potential tax planning strategies in assessing the need
for a potential valuation allowance. In future years the Company will need to generate approximately $13.6 million of taxable
income in order to realize our deferred tax assets recorded as of May 31, 2025 of $2,848,000. This deferred tax asset balance is 31%
($671,000) higher than at the end of the prior year. The amount of the deferred tax assets considered realizable however, could be
reduced in the near term if estimates of future taxable income are reduced. If actual results differ from estimated results or if the
Company adjusts these assumptions, the Company may need to adjust its deferred tax assets or liabilities, which could impact its
effective tax rate.

The Company's practice is to recognize interest related to income tax matters in interest income / expense and to recognize penalties
in selling, general and administrative expenses.

The Company and its subsidiary file consolidated federal and state income tax returns. As of May 31, 2025, the Company had state
investment tax credit carryforwards of approximately $493,000 expiring through May 2030.

Results of Operations

A summary of the period-to-period changes in the principal items included in the consolidated statements of income is shown below:

Summary comparison of the years ended May 31, 2025 and 2024
Increase /
(Decrease)

	Sales, net	 $ 1,710,000

	

Cost of goods sold 	 $ 1,071,000

	

Research and development costs 	 $ 	 56,000

	

Selling, general and administrative expenses 	 $ 	 436,000

	

Other income 	 $ 	 (35,000)

	

Income before provision for income taxes 	 $ 	 112,000

	

Provision for income taxes 	 $ (302,000)

	

Net income 	 $ 414,000



For the year ended May 31, 2025 (All figures being discussed are for the year ended May 31, 2025 as compared to the year ended
May 31, 2024).

Year ended May 31 Change
2025 	 2024 Amount Percent

Net Revenue $ 46,293,000 	 $ 44,583,000 	 $ 1,710,000
	

4%

Cost of sales 	 24,815,000 	 23,744,000 	 1,071,000 
	

5%

Gross profit  $ 21,478,000 	 $ 20,839,000 	 $ 639,000 
	

3%

... as a percentage of net revenues 	 46% 	 47%

The Company's consolidated results of operations showed a 4% increase in net revenues and an increase in net income of 5%.
Revenues recorded in the year ended May 31, 2025 for long-term projects ("Proj ect(s)") were 19% higher than the level recorded in
the prior year. We had 37 Projects in process during the year ended May 31, 2025 compared with 39 during the same period last
year. Revenues recorded in the year ended May 31, 2025 for other-than long-term projects (non-projects) were 18% lower than the
level recorded in the prior year. The number of Projects in-process fluctuates from period to period. The changes from the prior
year to the year ended May 31, 2025 are not necessarily representative of future results.

Sales of the Company's products are made to three general groups of customers: industrial, structural and aerospace / defense. The
Company saw a 3% increase from last year's level in sales to structural customers who were seeking seismic / wind protection for
either construction of new buildings and bridges or retrofitting existing buildings and bridges along with a 2% increase in sales to
customers in aerospace / defense and a 24% increase in sales to customers using our products in industrial applications.

A breakdown of sales to these three general groups of customers, as a percentage of total net revenue for fiscal years ended May 31,
2025 and 2024 is as follows:

Year ended May 31
2025
	

2024
	Industrial

	
9%
	 8%

	

Structural
	

32%
	

32%

	

Aerospace / Defense 	 59%
	

60%

Total sales within the U.S. decreased 5% from last year. Total sales to Asia increased to $7.0 million from $2.0 million last year.
The shift in domestic and international sales concentration from the prior year is attributable to normal changes in structural project
activity. Net revenue by geographic region, as a percentage of total net revenue for fiscal years ended May 31, 2025 and 2024 is as
follows:

Year ended May 31
2025
	

2024
U.S. 	 79%
	

86%
Asia 	 15%
	

4%
Other 	 6%
	

10%

The gross profit as a percentage of net revenue of 46% in the year ended May 31, 2025 is in line with the same period of the prior
year.

At May 31, 2025, we had 142 open sales orders in our backlog with a total sales value of $27.1 million. At May 31, 2024, we had
134 open sales orders in our backlog with a total sales value of $33.1 million. $13.1 million of the current backlog is on Projects
already in progress. $18.6 million of the $33.1 million sales order backlog at May 31, 2024 was in progress at that date. 75% of the
sales value in the backlog is for aerospace / defense customers compared to 72% at the end of fiscal 2024. As a percentage of the
total sales order backlog, orders from structural customers accounted for 19% at May 31, 2025 and 22% at May 31, 2024. The
Company expects to recognize revenue for the majority of the backlog during the fiscal year ending May 31, 2026, with the remainder
during the fiscal year ending May 31, 2027.

The Company's backlog, revenues, commission expense, gross margins, gross profits,  and net income fluctuate from period to period.
Total sales in the current period and the changes in the current period compared to the prior period, are not necessarily representative
of future results.



Research and Development Costs

Years ended May 31 Change
2025 	 2024 Amount Percent

	R & D	 $ 444,000
	

$ 388,000
	

$ 56,000
	

14%

	

... as a percentage of net revenues 	 1.0%
	

0.9%

Research and development costs increased 14% from the prior year.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

	Years ended May 31
	

Change
2025
	

2024
	

Amount
	

Percent

	

S G & A 	 $ 11,407,000
	

$ 10,971,000
	

$ 436,000
	

4%

	

... as a percentage of net revenues 	 25%
	

25%

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased 4% from the prior year, primarily from increased credit loss expense.

Operating Income

Operating income of $9,627,000 for the year ended May 31, 2025 increased 2% from the prior year, primarily from increased
revenue.

Other Income

Other income decreased 2% from the prior year. The decrease was driven by short-term investment interest income.

Provision for Income Taxes

The Company's effective tax rate (ETR) is calculated based upon current assumptions relating to the year's operating results and
various tax related items. The ETR for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2025 is 15%, compared to the ETR for the prior year of 18%.

A reconciliation of provision for income taxes at the statutory rate to income tax provision at the Company's effective rate is as
follows:

Computed tax provision at the expected statutory rate
Tax effect of permanent differences:

Research tax credits 	 (489,000) 	 (408,000)
Foreign-derived intangible income deduction 	 (225,000) 	 (142,000)
Stock option costs 	 (12,000) 	 49,000
Other permanent differences 	 24,000 	 3,000

Other 	 5,000	 127,000 
	$ 1,620,000	 $ 1,922,000

The foreign-derived intangible income deduction is a tax deduction provided to corporations that sell goods or services to foreign
customers. It became available through the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017.

2025
	

2024
$ 2,317,000
	

$ 2,293,000



Liquidity and Capital Resources, Line of Credit and Long-Term Debt

The Company's primary liquidity requirements depend on its working capital and capital expenditure needs. Working capital consists
primarily of cash and short-term investments, inventory, accounts receivable, costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings,
accounts payable, accrued expenses and billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings. The Company's primary source of
liquidity has been excess cash flow from operations.

Capital expenditures for the year ended May 31, 2025 were $2,602,000 compared to $1,149,000 in the prior year. Current year
capital expenditures included new manufacturing machinery, testing equipment, upgrades to technology equipment and assembly /
test facility improvements. The Company has commitments to make capital expenditures of approximately $1,853,000 as of May
31, 2025. These capital expenditures will be primarily for new manufacturing and testing equipment.

The Company has a $10,000,000 demand line of credit with M&T Bank, with interest payable at the Company's option of 30, 60 or
90 day SOFR rate plus 2.365%. There is no outstanding balance at May 31, 2025. The line is secured by a negative pledge of the
Company's real and personal property and is subject to renewal annually. The bank is not committed to make loans under this line
of credit and no commitment fee is charged.

Management believes that the Company's cash on hand, cash flows from operations, and borrowing capacity under the bank line of
credit will be sufficient to fund ongoing operations and capital improvements for the next twelve months.

Inventory and Maintenance Inventory
May 31, 2025
	

May 31, 2024
	

Increase /(Decrease)
Raw materials $ 627,000

	

Work-in-process 	 7,223,000

	

Finished goods 	263,000 

	

Inventory 	 8,113,000 88%

	

Maintenance and other inventory 	1,108,000  12%
Total $ 9,221,000 100%

$ 887,000
6,412,000

213,000
7,512,000
1,580,000

$ 9,092,000

$ (260,000)
811,000

50,000 
83% 	 601,000
17% 	(472,000)

100% 	 $ 129,000

-29%
13%
23%

8%
-30%

1%       

Inventory turnover 	 2.7 	 3.0

Inventory, at $8,113,000 as of May 31, 2025, is eight percent higher than at the prior year-end. Of this, approximately 89% is work
in process, 3% is finished goods, and 8% is raw materials. All of the current inventory is expected to be consumed or sold within
twelve months. The level of inventory will fluctuate from time to time due to the stage of completion of the non-project sales orders
in progress at the time.

The Company disposed of approximately $107,000 and $791,000 of obsolete inventory during the years ended May 31, 2025 and
2024, respectively.



Accounts Receivable, Costs and Estimated Earnings in Excess of Billings ("CIEB") and Billings in Excess of Costs and
Estimated Earnings ("BIEC")

May 31, 2025
	

May 31, 2024
	 Increase /(Decrease)

	Accounts receivable	 5,600,000

	

CIEB 	 5,360,000

	

Less: BIEC 	4,382,000

	

Net 	 $ 6,578,000

5,212,000
4,357,000
5,601,000

$ 3,968,000

388,000
1,003,000

(1,219,000)
$ 2,610,000

7%
23%

-22%
66%

Number of an average day's sales outstanding in
accounts receivable (DSO)
	

32 	 39

The Company combines the totals of accounts receivable, the asset CIEB, and the liability BIEC, to determine how much cash the
Company will eventually realize from revenue recorded to date. As the accounts receivable figure rises in relation to the other two
figures, the Company can anticipate increased cash receipts within the ensuing 30-60 days.

Accounts receivable of $5,600,000 as of May 31, 2025 includes no retainage by customers on long-term construction projects. The
number of an average day's sales outstanding in accounts receivable (DSO) was 32 days at May 31, 2025 and 39 days at May 31,
2024. The Company increased its allowance for estimated credit losses to $564,000 at May 31, 2025 from $29,000 at May 31, 2024
due to the uncertainty of collecting a $751,000 overdue balance on a structural project.

The status of the projects in-progress at the end of the current and prior fiscal years have changed in the factors affecting the year-
end balances in the asset CIEB, and the liability BIEC:

Number of projects in progress at year-end
Aggregate percent complete at year-end

Average total value of projects in progress at year-end
Percentage of total value invoiced to customer

2025
	

2024
21
	

19
65%
	 53%

$1,846,000
	

$2,089,000
64%
	

56%

There are two more projects in-process at the end of the current fiscal year as compared with the prior year end and the average value
of those projects has decreased by 12% between those two dates.

As noted above, CIEB represents revenues recognized in excess of amounts billed. Whenever possible, the Company negotiates a
provision in sales contracts to allow the Company to bill, and collect from the customer, payments in advance of shipments.
Unfortunately, provisions such as this are often not possible. The $5,360,000 balance in this account at May 31, 2025 is a 23%
increase from the prior year end. This increase reflects the higher aggregate level of the percentage of completion of these Projects
as of the current year end as compared with the Projects in process at the prior year end. Generally, if progress billings are permitted
under the terms of a project sales agreement, then the more complete the project is, the more progress billings will be permitted. The
Company expects to bill the entire amount during the next twelve months. 38% of the CIEB balance as of the end of the last fiscal
quarter, February 28, 2025, was billed to those customers in the current fiscal quarter ended May 31, 2025. The remainder will be
billed as the projects progress, in accordance with the terms specified in the various contracts.



The year-end balances in the CIEB account are comprised of the following components:

May 31, 2025 May 31, 2024
Costs

Estimated earnings
Less: Billings to customers

CIEB
Number of projects in progress

$ 8,514,000
9,289,000

12,443,000
$ 5,360,000

14

$ 9,644,000
9,782,000

15,069,000
$ 4,357,000

14

As noted above, BIEC represents billings to customers in excess of revenues recognized. The $4,382,000 balance in this account at
May 31, 2025 is in comparison to a $5,601,000 balance at the end of the prior year. The balance in this account fluctuates in the
same manner and for the same reasons as the account "costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings," discussed above. Final
delivery of product under these contracts is expected to occur during the next twelve months.

The year-end balances in this account are comprised of the following components:

May 31, 2025 May 31, 2024
Billings to customers

Less: Costs
Less: Estimated earnings

BIEC
Number of projects in progress

$ 12,253,000
3,985,000
3,886,000

$	 4,382,000
7

$ 	 7,211,000
933,000
677,000

$	 5,601,000
5

Accounts payable, at $1,119,000 as of May 31, 2025, is 22% less than the prior year end. This decrease is normal fluctuation of this
account and is not considered to be unusual. The Company expects the current accounts payable amount to be paid during the next
twelve months.

Accrued expenses of $4,072,000 decreased 13% from the prior year level of $4,664,000. This change is due to decreases in accrued
incentive compensation.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Taylor Devices, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Taylor Devices, Inc. and Subsidiary (the
Company) as of May 31, 2025 and 2024, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders' equity,
and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (collectively
referred to as the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial condition of the Company as of May 31, 2025 and 2024, and the results
of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company's consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting
firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an
audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures
included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated
financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1)
relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not
alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by
communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the
accounts or disclosures to which they relate.
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Cost Estimates for Long-Term Contracts and Related Revenue Recognition

Description of the Matter

As more fully described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company recognizes revenue over
time for long-term contracts as goods are produced. The Company uses costs incurred as the method to determine
progress, and revenue is recognized based on costs incurred to date plus an estimate of margin at completion. The
process of estimating margin at completion involves estimating the costs to complete production of goods and
comparing those costs to the estimated final revenue amount. Long-term contracts are inherently uncertain in that
revenue is fixed while the estimates of costs required to complete these contracts are subject to significant
variability. Due to the technical performance requirements in many of these contracts, changes to cost estimates
could occur, resulting in higher or lower margins when the contracts are completed.

Given the inherent uncertainty and significant judgments necessary to estimate future costs at completion, auditing
these estimates involved a focused audit effort and a high degree of auditor judgment.

How We Addressed the Matter in Our Audit

Our auditing procedures related to the cost estimates for long-term contracts and related revenue recognition
included the following, among others:

• We evaluated the appropriateness and consistency of management's methods used to develop its estimates.
• We evaluated the reasonableness of judgments made and significant assumptions used by management

relating to key estimates.
• We selected a sample of executed contracts to understand the contract, perform an independent assessment

of the appropriate timing of revenue recognition, and test the mathematical accuracy of revenue recognized
based on costs incurred to date relative to total estimated costs at completion.

• We performed inquiries of the Company's project managers and others directly involved with the contracts
to evaluate project status and project challenges which may affect total estimated costs to complete. We
also observed the project work site when key estimates related to tangible or physical progress of the
project.

• We tested the accuracy and completeness of the data used to develop key estimates, including material,
labor, overhead, and sub-contractor costs.

• We performed retrospective reviews of prior year long-term contracts, comparing actual performance to
estimated performance and the related financial statement impact, when evaluating the thoroughness and
precision of management's estimation process in previous years.

Valuation of Inventory

Description of the Matter

As of May 31, 2025, the Company's inventory balance was $8.1 million, net of a $23,000 allowance for
obsolescence, its maintenance and other inventory balance was $1.1 million, net of an approximate $765,000
allowance for obsolescence. As discussed in Note 5, maintenance and other inventory represents certain items that
are estimated to have a product life-cycle in excess of twelve months the Company is required to maintain for
service of products sold and items that are generally subject to spontaneous ordering. The Company evaluates its
inventory for obsolescence on an ongoing basis by considering historical usage as well as requirements for future
orders.

Given the inherent uncertainty and significant judgments necessary to estimate potential inventory obsolescence,
auditing management's estimates involved a high degree of auditor judgment.



How We Addressed the Matter in Our Audit

Our auditing procedures related to valuation of inventory included the following, among others:
• We evaluated the appropriateness and consistency of management's methods used to develop its estimates.
• We evaluated the reasonableness of judgments made and significant assumptions used by management

relating to key estimates.
• We inquired of management relative to write-offs of inventory during the year.
• We tested the completeness and accuracy of management's schedule of inventory.
• We developed an independent expectation of the obsolescence reserve based on our knowledge of the

Company's inventory, including analysis of slow-moving items and historical usage and compared it to
actual.

• We examined management's lower of cost or net realizable value analysis and performed procedures to test
its completeness and accuracy.

• We selected a sample of material purchases made during the year to ensure they were included in inventory
at the proper value.

• During our physical inventory observation, we toured the Company's warehouses and examined inventory
on hand for any indications of obsolescence.

6--2,--,70-t,e41, �=� e
We have served as the Company's auditor since 1998.

Buffalo, New York
August 15, 2025



TAYLOR DEVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

Consolidated Balance Sheets

May 31, 	 2025 	2024

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 	$ 	 1,190,656 	$ 2,831,471
Short-term investments 	34,799,367 	28,131,279
Accounts and other receivables, net (Note 2) 	5,599,785 	5,212,408
Inventory (Note 3) 	8,113,321 	7,512,052
Prepaid expenses 	1,124,878 	725,506
Prepaid income taxes 	94,333
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings (Note 4) 	 5,360,499 	4,356,565

Total current assets 	 56,282,839 	48,769,281

Maintenance and other inventory, net (Note 5) 	1,107,875 	1,579,829
Property and equipment, net (Note 6) 	12,074,172	11,180,933
Patents, net 	270,370 	292,593
Cash value of life insurance, net 	219,444 	214,824
Other assets 	65,420 	27,343
Deferred income taxes (Note 10) 	1,598,000 	1,012,615

$	 71,618,120 	$ 63,077,418
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 	$ 	 1,119,240 	$ 1,438,847
Accrued expenses (Note 8) 	4,072,436 	4,664,463
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings (Note 4) 	4,382,067 	5,601,274
Accrued income taxes 	 126,148

Total current liabilities	 9,573,743 	11,830,732

Stockholders' Equity:
Common stock, $.025 par value, authorized 8,000,000 shares,

issued 4,196,470 and 4,165,315 shares 	104,835 	104,056
Paid-in capital 	14,544,580 	12,959,531
Retained earnings 	60,540,154 	51,127,018 

	75,189,569 	64,190,605
Treasury stock — 1,051,688 and 1,046,742 shares at cost 	 (13,145,192) 	(12,943,919)

Total stockholders' equity	 62,044,377 	51,246,686 

$	 71,618,120 	$ 63,077,418

See notes to consolidated financial statements.



TAYLOR DEVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

Consolidated Statements of Income

For the years ended May 31, 	 2025 	2024

Sales, net (Note 9) 	$ 46,292,725 	 $ 44,582,807

Cost of goods sold 	24,814,581 	23,743,554

Gross profit 	 21,478,144 	20,839,253

Research and development costs 	444,000 	388,476
Selling, general and administrative expenses 	11,406,817 	10,971,358

Operating income 	 9,627,327 	9,479,419

Other income
Interest, net 	1,402,440 	1,426,584

Miscellaneous 	3,369 	14,759

Total other income, net 	1,405,809 	1,441,343  

Income before provision for income taxes 	 11,033,136 	10,920,762

Provision for income taxes (Note 10) 	1,620,000 	1,922,000

Net income 	 $ 	 9,413,136 	 $ 8,998,762

Basic earnings per common share (Note 11) 	3.01 	2.68

Diluted earnings per common share (Note 11) 	2.87 	2.58

See notes to consolidated financial statements.



TAYLOR DEVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity

For the years ended May 31, 	2025 	2024 

Common Stock
Beginning of period 	104,056	 $ 	 102,127
Issuance of shares for employee stock purchase plan 	4 	10
Issuance of shares for employee stock option plan 	 775 	1,919
End of period 	104,835 	104,056

Paid-in Capital
Beginning of period 	12,959,531 	10,947,089
Issuance of shares for employee stock purchase plan 	6,432 	9,904
Issuance of shares for employee stock option plan 	356,108 	955,286
Stock options issued for services 	1,222,509 	1,047,252
End of period 	14,544,580 	12,959,531

Retained Earnings
Beginning of period 	51,127,018 	42,128,256
Net income 	9,413,136 	8,998,762
End of period 	60,540,154 	51,127,018

Treasury Stock
Beginning of period 	(12,943,919) 	(3,084,742)
Issuance of shares for employee stock option plan 	(201,273) 	(715,599)
Repurchase of shares 	 (9,143,578)
End of period 	(13,145,192) 	(12,943,919)

Total stockholders' equity 	 $ 	 62,044,377 	 $ 51,246,686

See notes to consolidated financial statements



2025
	

2024

	9,413,136 	$	 8,998,762
activities:

	1,708,849 	1,690,239
	22,223 	7,407
	1,222,509 	1,047,252

535,000
385,744

	(585,385) 	(444,000)

	(922,377)
	

341,096
	(129,315)

	
(2,533,181)

	(399,372)
	

(285,899)
	(94,333)

	
228,947

	(1,003,934)
	

(232,383)
	(319,607)

	
(278,810)

	(592,027)
	

586,141
	(1,219,207)

	
3,608,804

	126,148) 	126,148
	(38,077) 	(27,343)
	7,471,935 	13,218,924

	(2,602,088) 	(1,149,388)
(300,000)

	(6,668,088) 	(3,616,522)
	(4,620) 	(4,704)
	(9,274,796) 	(5,070,614) 

363,319
(201,273)

162,046

967,119
(9,859,177)
(8,892,058)

(743,748)

3,575,219 

$ 	 2,831,471 

(1,640,815)

2,831,471

1,190,656

TAYLOR DEVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended May 31, 

Operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash flows from operating

Depreciation
Amortization
Stock options issued for services
Credit loss expense
Provision for inventory obsolescence
Deferred income taxes
Changes in other assets and liabilities:

Accounts and other receivables
Inventory
Prepaid expenses
Prepaid income taxes
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings
Accrued income taxes
Other assets
Net operating activities

Investing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment
Patent expenditures
Increase in short-term investments
Increase in cash value of life insurance

Net investing activities

Financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Acquisition of treasury stock

Net financing activities

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning

Cash and cash equivalents - ending

See notes to consolidated financial statements.



TAYLOR DEVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

Nature of Operations:

Taylor Devices, Inc. (the Company) manufactures and sells a single group of very similar products that have many different
applications for customers. These similar products are included in one of nine categories; namely, Seismic Dampers, Fluidicshoks®,
Crane and Industrial Buffers, Self-Adjusting Shock Absorbers, Liquid Die Springs, Vibration Dampers, Machined Springs, Custom
Shock and Vibration Isolators, and Custom Actuators for use in various types of machinery, equipment and structures, primarily to
customers which are located throughout the United States and several foreign countries. The products are manufactured at the
Company's sole operating facility in the United States where all of the Company's long-lived assets reside. Management does not
track or otherwise account for sales broken down by these categories.

The chief operating decision maker is the Chief Executive Officer who assesses performance for the business (and lone segment)
and decides how to allocate resources based on net income as reported in a format consistent with the consolidated statements of
income included in these consolidated financial statements. The measure of segment assets is as reported on the consolidated balance
sheets in these consolidated financial statements.

79% of the Company's 2025 revenue was generated from sales to customers in the United States and 15% was from sales to customers
in Asia. Remaining sales were to customers in other countries in North America, Europe, Australia, and South America.

86% of the Company's 2024 revenue was generated from sales to customers in the United States and 4% was from sales to customers
in Asia. Remaining sales were to customers in other countries in North America, Europe, Australia, and South America.

Principles of Consolidation:

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, Tayco
Realty Corporation (Realty). All inter-company transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

Subsequent Events:

The Company has evaluated events and transactions for potential recognition or disclosure in the financial statements through the
date the financial statements were issued.

Use of Estimates:

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents:

The Company includes all highly liquid investments in money market funds in cash and cash equivalents on the accompanying
balance sheets.

Cash and cash equivalents in financial institutions may exceed insured limits at various times during the year and subject the
Company to concentrations of credit risk.



Short-Term Investments:

At times, the Company invests excess funds in liquid interest earning instruments. Short-term investments at May 31, 2025 and May
31, 2024 include money market funds, U.S. treasury securities and corporate bonds stated at fair value, which approximates cost.
Unrealized holding gains and losses would be presented as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income, net
of deferred income taxes. Realized gains and losses on the sale of investments are determined using the specific identification
method.

The short-term investments are valued using pricing models maximizing the use of observable inputs for similar securities. This
includes basing value on yields currently available on comparable securities of issuers with similar credit ratings.

Accounts and Other Receivables:

Accounts and other receivables are stated at an amount management expects to collect from outstanding balances. Management
provides for estimated credit losses through a charge to expense and a credit to a valuation allowance based on its assessment of the
current status of individual accounts. Balances that are still outstanding after management has used reasonable collection efforts are
written off through a charge to the valuation allowance and a credit to the receivable.

Inventory:

Inventory is stated at the lower of average cost or net realizable value. Average cost approximates first-in, first-out cost.

Property and Equipment:

Property and equipment is stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided primarily using the straight-line
method for financial reporting purposes and accelerated methods for income tax reporting purposes. Maintenance and repairs are
charged to operations as incurred; significant improvements are capitalized.

Cash Value of Life Insurance:

Cash value of life insurance is stated at the surrender value of the contracts.

Revenue Recognition:

Revenue is recognized (generally at fixed prices) when, or as, the Company transfers control of promised products or services to a
customer in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring those
products or services.

A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer, and is the unit of account.
A contract's transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as, the
performance obligation is satisfied. The majority of the Company's contracts have a single performance obligation as the promise
to transfer the individual goods or services is not separately identifiable from other promises in the contracts which are, therefore,
not distinct. Promised goods or services that are immaterial in the context of the contract are not separately assessed as performance
obligations.

For contracts with customers in which the Company satisfies a promise to the customer to provide a product that has no alternative
use to the Company and the Company has enforceable rights to payment for progress completed to date inclusive of profit, the
Company satisfies the performance obligation and recognizes revenue over time (generally less than one year), using costs incurred
to date relative to total estimated costs at completion to measure progress toward satisfying the Company's performance obligations.
Incurred costs represents work performed, which corresponds with, and thereby best depicts, the transfer of control to the customer.
Contract costs include labor, material and overhead. Adjustments to cost estimates are made periodically, and losses expected to be
incurred on contracts in progress are charged to operations in the period such losses are determined. Other sales to customers are
recognized upon shipment to the customer based on contract prices and terms. In the year ended May 31, 2025, 68% of revenue was
recorded for contracts in which revenue was recognized over time while 32% was recognized at a point in time. In the year ended
May 31, 2024, 59% of revenue was recorded for contracts in which revenue was recognized over time while 41% was recognized at
a point in time.



Progress payments are typically negotiated for longer term projects. Payments are otherwise due once performance obligations are
complete (generally at shipment and transfer of title). For financial statement presentation purposes, the Company nets progress
billings against the total costs incurred on uncompleted contracts. The asset, "costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings,"
represents revenues recognized in excess of amounts billed. The liability, "billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings,"
represents billings in excess of revenues recognized.

If applicable, the Company recognizes an asset for the incremental material costs of obtaining a contract with a customer if the
Company expects the benefit of those costs to be longer than one year and the costs are expected to be recovered. As of May 31,
2025 and 2024, the Company does not have material incremental costs on any open contracts with an original expected duration of
greater than one year, and therefore such costs are expensed as incurred. These incremental costs include, but are not limited to,
sales commissions incurred to obtain a contract with a customer.

Shipping and Handling Costs:

Shipping and handling costs on incoming inventory items are classified as a component of cost of goods sold, while shipping and
handling costs on outgoing shipments to customers are classified as a component of selling, general and administrative expenses.
The amounts of these costs classified as a component of selling, general and administrative expenses were $239,182 and $190,939
for the years ended May 31, 2025 and 2024. Shipping and handling activities that occur after the customer has obtained control of
the product are considered fulfillment activities, not performance obligations.

Income Taxes:

The provision for income taxes provides for the tax effects of transactions reported in the financial statements regardless of when
such taxes are payable. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary
differences between the tax and financial statement basis of assets and liabilities. Deferred taxes are based on tax laws currently
enacted with tax rates expected to be in effect when the taxes are actually paid or recovered.

The Company's practice is to recognize interest related to income tax matters in interest income / expense and to recognize penalties in
selling, general and administrative expenses. The Company did not have any accrued interest or penalties included in its consolidated
balance sheets at May 31, 2025 and 2024. The Company recorded no interest expense or penalties in its consolidated statements of
income during the years ended May 31, 2025 and 2024.

The Company believes it is no longer subject to examination by federal and state taxing authorities for years prior to May 31, 2022.

Sales Taxes:

Certain jurisdictions impose a sales tax on Company sales to nonexempt customers. The Company collects these taxes from
customers and remits the entire amount as required by the applicable law. The Company excludes from revenues and expenses the
tax collected and remitted.

Stock-Based Compensation:

The Company measures compensation cost arising from the grant of share-based payments to employees at fair value and recognizes
such cost in income over the period during which the employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award. The stock-
based compensation expense for the years ended May 31, 2025 and 2024 was $1,222,509 and $1,047,252.



New Accounting Standards:

Any recently issued Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) guidance has either been implemented or is not significant to the
Company.

2. Accounts and Other Receivables:     

2025 	2024 
$ 6,164,251 	$ 5,241,874 Customers

Customers — retention  

Less allowance for estimated credit losses 
	6,164,251 	5,241,874
	564,466 	29,466

$ 5,599,785 $ 5,212,408    

Retention receivable from customers represents amounts invoiced to customers where payments have been partially withheld
pending completion of the project. The Company increased its allowance for estimated credit losses due to the uncertainty of
collecting a $751,000 balance overdue on a structural project. The Company is in discussion with the customer regarding payment
of this balance.

All other amounts are expected to be collected within the next fiscal year.

3. Inventory: 

2025
$	 627,616

7,222,613
286,092

8,136,321
23,000

$ 8,113,321

2024
$ 	 886,947

6,412,497
271,608

7,571,052
59,000

$ 7,512,052

Raw materials
Work-in-process
Finished goods

Less allowance for obsolescence

4. Costs and Estimated Earnings on Uncompleted Contracts:

Costs incurred on uncompleted contracts
Estimated earnings

Less billings to date

2025 	2024 
	$ 12,499,313 	$ 10,576,401
	13,175,240 	10,459,240 

	25,674,553 	21,035,641
	24,696,121 	22,280,350 

$	 978,432 	$ (1,244,709)

Amounts are included in the accompanying balance sheets under the following captions:

2025
	

2024 
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings 	 $ 5,360,499

	
$ 4,356,565

Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings 	 4,382,067
	

5,601,274
$	 978,432
	

$ (1,244,709)



The following summarizes the status of Projects in progress as of May 31, 2025 and 2024:

2025 	2024 
	Number of Projects in progress 	21 	19

	

Aggregate percent complete 	65% 	53%

	

Aggregate amount remaining 	$13,100,204 	$18,650,312

	

Percentage of total value invoiced to customer 	64% 	56%

The Company expects to recognize the majority of remaining revenue on all open projects during the May 31, 2026 fiscal year.

Revenue recognized during the years ended May 31, 2025 and 2024 for amounts included in billings in excess of costs and estimated
earnings as of the beginning of the year amounted to $5,601,000, and $1,992,000.

5. Maintenance and Other Inventory:     

2025 	2024 
	$ 1,872,931 	$ 2,416,748
	765,056 	836,919
	$ 1,107,875 	$ 1,579,829 

Maintenance and other inventory
Less allowance for obsolescence     

Maintenance and other inventory represent stock that is estimated to have a product life-cycle in excess of twelve-months. This
stock represents certain items the Company is required to maintain for service of products sold, and items that are generally subject
to spontaneous ordering. This inventory is particularly sensitive to technical obsolescence in the near term due to its use in industries
characterized by the continuous introduction of new product lines, rapid technological advances and product obsolescence.
Therefore, management of the Company has recorded an allowance for potential inventory obsolescence. $107,000 and $791,000
of inventory was disposed of during the years ended May 31, 2025 and 2024. The provision for potential inventory obsolescence
was zero and $386,000 for the years ended May 31, 2025 and 2024. The Company continues to rework slow-moving inventory,
where applicable, to convert it to product to be used on customer orders.

6. Property and Equipment:

2025 	2024 
Land 	$ 	 195,220 	$	 195,220
Buildings and improvements 	10,160,842 	10,054,459
Machinery and equipment 	17,950,644 	15,956,076
Office furniture and equipment 	3,193,150 	3,113,921
Autos and trucks 	91,717 	24,818
Land improvements 	662,168 	662,168

	32,253,741 	30,006,662
Less accumulated depreciation 	20,179,569 	18,825,729

	$ 12,074,172 	$ 11,180,933

Depreciation expense was $1,708,849 and $1,690,239 for the years ended May 31, 2025 and 2024.

The Company has commitments to make capital expenditures of approximately $1,853,000 as of May 31, 2025.



7. Short-Term Borrowings:

The Company has available a $10,000,000 bank demand line of credit from a bank, with interest payable at the Company's option
of 30, 60 or 90 day SOFR rate plus 2.365%. The line is secured by a negative pledge of the Company's real and personal property
and is subject to renewal annually.

There is no amount outstanding under the line of credit at May 31, 2025 or 2024.

The Company uses a cash management facility under which the bank draws against the available line of credit to cover checks
presented for payment on a daily basis. Outstanding checks under this arrangement totaled $97,673 and $372,347 as of May 31,
2025 and 2024. These amounts are included in accounts payable on the accompanying balance sheets.

8. Accrued Expenses:

2025 	2024 
Customer deposits 	$ 	 104,825 	$	 285,689
Personnel costs 	3,214,157 	3,763,777
Other 	753,454 	614,997

	$ 4,072,436 	$ 4,664,463

9. Sales:

The Company manufactures and sells a single group of very similar products that have many different applications for customers.
These similar products are included in one of nine categories; namely, Seismic Dampers, Fluidicshoks®, Crane and Industrial
Buffers, Self-Adjusting Shock Absorbers, Liquid Die Springs, Vibration Dampers, Machined Springs, Custom Shock and Vibration
Isolators, and Custom Actuators. Management does not track or otherwise account for sales broken down by these categories. Sales
of the Company's products are made to three general groups of customers: industrial, structural and aerospace / defense. A
breakdown of sales to these three general groups of customers is as follows:

2025 	2024 
Structural 	$ 14,827,044 	$ 14,406,863
Aerospace / Defense 	27,134,038 	26,675,321
Industrial 	4,331,643 	3,500,623  

	$ 46,292,725 	$ 44,582,807

Sales to two customers approximated 36% (21% and 15% respectively) of net sales for 2025. Sales to a single customer
approximated 21% of net sales in 2024.

10. Income Taxes:

2025 	2024 
Current tax provision:

Federal 	$ 2,204,000 	$ 2,365,000
State 	1,000 	1,000 

	2,205,000 	2,366,000
Deferred tax provision (benefit):

Federal 	(585,000) 	(444,000)
State 	 -

	(585,000) 	(444,000)
	$ 1,620,000 	$ 1,922,000



$ 2,317,000 	$ 2,293,400

(489,692)
(224,700)

(11,682)
24,300

4,774
$ 1,620,000

14.7%

(407,675)
(142,100)

48,500
2,800

127,075 
$ 1,922,000

17.6%

A reconciliation of provision for income taxes at the statutory rate to income tax provision at the Company's effective rate is as
follows:

2025 	2024
Computed tax provision at the expected statutory rate
Tax effect of permanent differences:

Research tax credits
Foreign-derived intangible income deduction
Stock option costs
Other permanent differences

Other

Effective income tax rate

Significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following:

2025
	

2024
Deferred tax assets:
Allowance for estimated credit losses
Tax inventory adjustment
Allowance for obsolete inventory
Accrued vacation
Warranty reserve
R&D capitalization
Stock options issued for services

Deferred tax liabilities:
Excess tax depreciation

Net deferred tax assets

$	 118,500 	$	 6,200
	52,600 	57,300
	165,500 	188,100
	169,600 	163,000
	112,500 	100,700
	2,111,200 	1,479,800
	117,700 	181,200
	2,847,600 	2,176,300

	(1,249,600) 	(1,163,685)
$ 1,598,000 	$ 1,012,615

Realization of the deferred tax assets is dependent on generating sufficient taxable income at the time temporary differences become
deductible. The Company provides a valuation allowance to the extent that deferred tax assets may not be realized. A valuation
allowance has not been recorded against the deferred tax assets since management believes it is more likely than not that the deferred
tax assets are recoverable. The Company considers future taxable income and potential tax planning strategies in assessing the need
for a potential valuation allowance. The amount of the deferred tax assets considered realizable however, could be reduced in the
near term if estimates of future taxable income are reduced. The Company will need to generate approximately $13.6 million in
taxable income in future years in order to realize the deferred tax assets recorded as of May 31, 2025 of $2,847,600.

The Company and its subsidiary file consolidated Federal and State income tax returns. As of May 31, 2025, the Company had State
investment tax credit carryforwards of approximately $493,000 expiring through May 2030.



11. Earnings Per Common Share:

Basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing income available to common stockholders by the weighted-average
common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per common share reflects the weighted-average common shares
outstanding and dilutive potential common shares, such as stock options.

A reconciliation of weighted-average common shares outstanding to weighted-average common shares outstanding assuming
dilution is as follows:

2025 	2024 
Average common shares outstanding 	3,131,134 	3,353,077
Common shares issuable under stock option plans 	147,555 	135,711 
Average common shares outstanding assuming dilution 	3,278,689 	3,488,788

12. Employee Stock Purchase Plan:

In March 2004, the Company reserved 295,000 shares of common stock for issuance pursuant to a non-qualified employee stock
purchase plan. Participation in the employee stock purchase plan is voluntary for all eligible employees of the Company. Purchase
of common shares can be made by employee contributions through payroll deductions and without brokers' fees. At the end of each
calendar quarter, the employee contributions will be applied to the purchase of common shares using a share value equal to the mean
between the closing bid and ask prices of the stock on that date. These shares are distributed to the employees at the end of each
calendar quarter or upon withdrawal from the plan. During the years ended May 31, 2025 and 2024, 155 ($32.51 to $49.40 price
per share) and 372 ($21.70 to $48.89 price per share) common shares, respectively, were issued to employees. As of May 31, 2025,
215,838 shares were reserved for further issue.

13. Stock Option Plans:

In 2022, the Company adopted a stock option plan which permits the Company to grant both incentive stock options and non-
qualified stock options. The incentive stock options qualify for preferential treatment under the Internal Revenue Code. Under this
plan, 260,000 shares of common stock have been reserved for grant to key employees and directors of the Company and 233,800
shares have been granted as of May 31, 2025. Under the plan, the option price may not be less than the fair market value of the stock
at the time the options are granted. Options vest immediately and expire ten years from the date of grant.

Using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, the weighted average estimated fair value of each option granted under the plan was
$13.61 during 2025 and $12.32 during 2024. The pricing model uses the assumptions noted in the following table. Expected
volatility is based on the historical volatility of the Company's stock. The risk-free interest rate for periods within the contractual
life of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the grant. The expected life of options granted is
derived from previous history of stock exercises from the grant date and represents the period of time that options granted are
expected to be outstanding. The Company uses historical data to estimate option exercise and employee termination assumptions
under the valuation model. The Company has never paid dividends on its common stock and does not anticipate doing so in the
foreseeable future.

2025 	2024
Risk-free interest rate 	 3.87% 	4.00%
Expected life in years 	 4.2 	4.3
Expected volatility 	 39% 	37%
Expected dividend yield
	

0% 	0%



The following is a summary of stock option activity:

Weighted
Average	 Intrinsic

Shares 	 Exercise Price 	 Value 
Outstanding - May 31, 2023 	333,000 $	 12.70 $ 2,016,961

Options granted 	85,000 $	 34.04
Less: options exercised 	76,750 $	 12.54
Less: options expired 	750 

Outstanding - May 31, 2024 	340,500 $	 18.07 $11,185,815
Options granted 	89,800 $	 37.24
Less: options exercised 	31,000 $	 11.51
Less: options expired

Outstanding - May 31, 2025 	399,300 $	 22.89 $ 6,341,305

We calculated intrinsic value for those options that had an exercise price lower than the market price of our common shares as of the
balance sheet dates. The aggregate intrinsic value of outstanding options as of the end of each fiscal year is calculated as the
difference between the exercise price of the underlying options and the market price of our common shares for the options that were
in-the-money at that date (309,500 at May 31, 2025 and 340,500 at May 31, 2024). The Company's closing stock price was $36.93
and $50.92 as of May 31, 2025 and 2024. As of May 31, 2025, there are 26,200 options available for future grants under the 2022
stock option plan. $356,883 was received from the exercise of options during the fiscal year ended May 31, 2025; $957,205 was
received from the exercise of options during the fiscal year ended May 31, 2024.

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at May 31, 2025:

Outstanding and Exercisable 
Weighted Average

	

Number of 	 Remaining Years of Weighted Average
Range of Exercise Prices 	 Options 	 Contractual Life 	 Exercise Price

	$ 9.01-$10.00	 45,000 	 5.8 	 $ 9.71

	

$10.01-$11.00 	 15,250 	 3.7 	 $10.21

	

$11.01-$12.00 	 99,000 	 5.4 	 $11.72

	

$12.01-$13.00 	 6,000 	 1.7 	 $12.41

	

$13.01-$14.00 	 10,000 	 1.9 	 $13.80

	

$16.01-$17.00 	 10,000 	 0.9 	 $16.40

	

$19.01-$20.00 	 47,500 	 7.3 	 $19.89

	

$20.01-$21.00 	 33,750 	 8.4 	 $20.78

	

$30.01-$31.00 	 43,000 	 9.9 	 $30.55

	

$43.01-$44.00 	 46,800 	 9.4 	 $43.38
	$46.01-$47.00	 43,000	 8.9	 $46.99 
	$ 9.01-$47.00	 399,300 	 6.9 	 $22.89



Range of Exercise Prices
$ 9.01-$10.00
$10.01-$11.00
$11.01-$12.00
$12.01-$13.00
$13.01-$14.00
$16.01-$17.00
$19.01-$20.00
$20.01-$21.00
$46.01-$47.00
$ 9.01-$47.00

Number of
Options

55,000
15,250

106,250
19,000
10,000
10,000
47,500
34,500
43,000

340,500

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at May 31, 2024:

Outstanding and Exercisable 	
Weighted Average

Remaining Years of
Contractual Life

7.0
4.7
6.5
1.5
2.9
1.9
8.3
9.4
9.9
6.9

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

$ 9.67
$10.21
$11.72
$12.36
$13.80
$16.40
$19.89
$20.78
$46.99 
$18.07

14. Retirement Plan:

The Company maintains a retirement plan for essentially all employees pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code.
The Company matches a percentage of employee voluntary salary deferrals subject to limitations. The Company may also make
discretionary contributions as determined annually by the Company's Board of Directors. The amount expensed under the plan was
$462,445 and $431,720 for the years ended May 31, 2025 and 2024.

15. Fair Value of Financial Instruments:

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities approximate fair
value because of the short maturity of these instruments.

The fair values of short-term investments were determined as described in Note 1.

16. Cash Flows Information: 

2025 2024 

None 

$2,010,000

Interest paid 	None

Income taxes paid 	$2,425,000

17. Legal Proceedings:

The Company has been named as a third-party defendant in an action captioned Board of Managers of the 432 Park Condominium,
et al. v. 56th and Park (NY) Owner LLC, et al. (the "Action").

The Action was filed on or about September 23, 2021. In the Action, the Board of Managers of 432 Park Condominium (the
"Owner"), a condominium association for a high-rise condominium building (the "Building") located at 432 Park Avenue in New
York, N.Y., asserts a claim against the condominium sponsor, 56t h and Park (NY) Owner LLC (the "Sponsor") for damages arising
from construction and design defects to the residential and commercial units at the Building.

The Sponsor subsequently filed a third-party complaint against LendLease Construction (US) LMB ("LendLease") and other parties
involved in the Building's design. As to LendLease, the third-party complaint alleges breach of a construction management contract
between LendLease and the Sponsor and negligence arising from purported failure to perform under the contract, and seeks
indemnification against any damages asserted against the Sponsor by the Owner.

LendLease subsequently initiated a third-party complaint seeking indemnification from entities with whom LendLease had
contracted for the supply of materials and services in connection with construction of the Building. The third-party complaint also
names the Company as a third-party defendant based upon a contract between the Company and LendLease to supply 16 Viscous



Damping Devices that were incorporated into a Tuned Mass Damper system designed by a third party to limit accelerations of the
Building during wind events. The Company has timely filed and served an answer denying the allegations in LendLease's third party
complaint.

The Action, and all of the related third-party actions, are pending in the Commercial Division of the Supreme Court, New York
County.

Discovery relating to the Action remains ongoing and is expected to conclude on or about December 24, 2025, and the deadline to
file dispositive motions has been extended to March 11, 2026.

At present, the Company is unable to determine the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome or to quantify a potential loss.
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%OA5' O) 'I5EC7O5S & E;ECU7I9ES

)� EUic AUmeQaW
%oaUG MemEeU

MU. AUmeQaW
s caUeeU Kas sSaQQeG moUe WKaQ 40 yeaUs iQ a YaUieWy oI miGGOe�maUkeW oUgaQi]aWioQs EoWK SuEOic aQG
SUiYaWeOy owQeG. MU. AUmeQaW mosW UeceQWOy seUYeG as 3UesiGeQW aQG CKieI E[ecuWiYe oIIiceU oI MuOWisoUE )iOWUaWioQ
GUouS wKicK Ke successIuOOy sSeaUKeaGeG WKe saOe oI iQ eaUOy 20�8 IUom a SUiYaWe equiWy owQeU. MuOWisoUE is WKe
woUOG OeaGeU iQ WKe acWiYe SackagiQg iQGusWUy, soOYiQg comSOe[ WecKQicaO cKaOOeQges iQ WKe SKaUmaceuWicaO, IooG,
aQG iQGusWUiaO maUkeWs. )Uom 20�2 Wo 20�6, MU. AUmeQaW seUYeG as 3UesiGeQW aQG CKieI E[ecuWiYe OIIiceU IoU seYeUaO

comSaQies owQeG Ey SUiYaWe equiWy. 7Kese comSaQies iQcOuGeG KeaOWKcaUe GeOiYeUy, meGicaO wasWe coOOecWioQ, aQG GisSosaO, as weOO as
acWiYe SackagiQg. +e was UesSoQsiEOe IoU WKe successIuO EusiQess imSUoYemeQW aQG eYeQWuaO GiYesWiWuUe oI WKe comSaQies.

)Uom 200� Wo 20�2, MU. AUmeQaW seUYeG as CKieI OSeUaWiQg OIIiceU oI AYo[ SysWems (=oGiac AeUosSace�, a OeaGiQg suSSOieU oI aiUcUaIW
o[ygeQ sysWems. )Uom ���4 Wo 200�, Ke seUYeG as 9ice 3UesiGeQW oI OSeUaWioQs aQG WKeQ 3UesiGeQW aQG GeQeUaO MaQageU oI CaUOeWoQ
7ecKQoOogies (CoEKam MissioQ SysWems�, a gOoEaO OeaGeU oI WecKQoOogy IoU WKe miOiWaUy aQG commeUciaO aYiaWioQ maUkeWs. MU. AUmeQaW aOso
woUkeG as aQ OSeUaWioQs MaQagemeQW CoQsuOWaQW wiWK EUQsW aQG YouQg EegiQQiQg iQ ��84.

MU. AUmeQaW eaUQeG Kis %acKeOoU oI ScieQce 'egUee iQ IQGusWUiaO EQgiQeeUiQg IUom SouWKeUQ IOOiQois UQiYeUsiWy aQG Kis M%A iQ )iQaQce aQG
AccouQWiQg IUom SW. %oQaYeQWuUe UQiYeUsiWy. +e SUouGOy seUYeG iQ WKe UQiWeG SWaWes AiU )oUce.

-oKQ %uUgess
CKaiUmaQ oI WKe %oaUG oI 'iUecWoUs

MU. %uUgess gaiQeG Kis iQWeUQaWioQaO sWUaWegy, maQuIacWuUiQg oSeUaWioQs, aQG oUgaQi]aWioQaO GeYeOoSmeQW e[SeUWise
IUom Kis moUe WKaQ 40 yeaUs oI e[SeUieQce wiWK miGGOe�maUkeW SuEOic aQG SUiYaWeOy�owQeG comSaQies. MU. %uUgess
seUYeG as 3UesiGeQW aQG CEO oI 5eicKeUW, IQc., a OeaGiQg SUoYiGeU oI oSKWKaOmic iQsWUumeQWs, aQG sSeaUKeaGeG WKe
acquisiWioQ oI WKe comSaQy IUom /eica MicUosysWems iQ 2002, OeaGiQg WKe comSaQy uQWiO iWs saOe iQ -aQuaUy 200�.
3UioU Wo WKe acquisiWioQ, MU. %uUgess seUYeG as 3UesiGeQW oI /eica
s OSKWKaOmic aQG EGucaWioQaO 'iYisioQ EeIoUe

OeaGiQg WKe EuyouW oI WKe OSKWKaOmic 'iYisioQ aQG IoUmaWioQ oI 5eicKeUW, IQc.

)Uom ���6 Wo ����, MU. %uUgess was COO oI IQWeUQaWioQaO MoWioQ CoQWUoOs (IMC�, a $200 miOOioQ GiYeUsiIieG maQuIacWuUiQg IiUm. 'uUiQg Kis
WeQuUe WKeUe, Ke OeG a sigQiIicaQW acquisiWioQ sWUaWegy wKicK UesuOWeG iQ seYeQ comSOeWeG acquisiWioQs aQG si[WeeQ woUOGwiGe EusiQesses iQ
WKe moWioQ coQWUoO maUkeW. 3UeYiousOy, MU. %uUgess oSeUaWeG a QumEeU oI comSaQies IoU Moog, IQc. aQG CaUOeWoQ 7ecKQoOogies, iQcOuGiQg
si[ yeaUs sSeQW as 3UesiGeQW oI Moog
s -aSaQese suEsiGiaUy, 1iKoQ Moog K.K. OocaWeG iQ +iUaWsuka, -aSaQ. Moog, IQc. is WKe gOoEaO OeaGeU
iQ eOecWUo�KyGUauOic seUYo coQWUoO WecKQoOogy wiWK a Iocus oQ WKe aeUosSace aQG GeIeQse secWoUs. MU. %uUgess is aOso a IoUmeU OSeUaWiQg
3aUWQeU oI SummeU SWUeeW CaSiWaO 3aUWQeUs.

MU. %uUgess eaUQeG a %S iQ EQgiQeeUiQg IUom %aWK UQiYeUsiWy iQ EQgOaQG, aQG aQ M%A IUom CaQisius CoOOege OocaWeG iQ %uIIaOo, 1ew YoUk.
CuUUeQWOy, MU. %uUgess is a 'iUecWoU oI %iUG 7ecKQoOogies oI SoOoQ, OKio.

5oEeUW M� CaUey
%oaUG MemEeU

MU. CaUey EUiQgs oYeU 4� yeaUs oI e[SeUieQce UaQgiQg IUom geQeUaO maQagemeQW Wo coQsuOWaWiYe woUk Wo WKe
ComSaQy. +e was WKe GeQeUaO MaQageU oI WKe 5eicKeUW AQaOyWicaO IQsWUumeQWs gUouS IUom 200� Wo 200�. 7Ke
comSaQy maQuIacWuUes aQG iQWeUQaWioQaOOy seOOs a YaUieWy oI aQaOyWicaO measuUemeQW iQsWUumeQWs IoU use iQ
meGiciQe, IooG SUocessiQg, aQG EioWecKQoOogy UeseaUcK.

MU. CaUey was WKe 3UiQciSaO aW CMA, /WG IUom ���0 Wo 200�. CMA, /WG SUoYiGes coQsuOWiQg seUYices Wo WKe maQuIacWuUiQg secWoU iQ WKe aUeas
oI oUgaQi]aWioQ, oSeUaWioQaO cKaQge aQG sWUaWegic SOaQQiQg. MU. CaUey was aOso a 3aUWQeU iQ 'ecisioQ 3Uocesses IQWeUQaWioQaO ('3I� IUom
���� Wo 200�. '3I is aQ iQWeUQaWioQaO sWUaWegic SOaQQiQg coQsuOWaQcy woUkiQg wiWK comSaQies oI aOO si]es.

IQ ����, MU. CaUey MoiQeG WiOsoQ GUeaWEaWcK /WG. (Qow IQWegeU +oOGiQgs� as 1oUWK AmeUicaQ SaOes MaQageU. MU. GUeaWEaWcK KeOG WKe SaWeQWs
IoU WKe imSOaQWaEOe SacemakeU. 7Ke eSoQymousOy QameG comSaQy is WKe woUOG
s OeaGeU iQ imSOaQWaEOe SoweU souUces. IQ ��8� MU. CaUey
was QameG 9ice 3UesiGeQW oI WiOsoQ GUeaWEaWcK aQG GeQeUaO MaQageU oI WKe EOecWUocKem 'iY. EOecWUocKem wKicK maQuIacWuUes aQG
iQWeUQaWioQaOOy seOOs KigK�eQeUgy EaWWeUies useG iQ UuggeG oU UemoWe eQYiUoQmeQWs sucK as sSace, oiO aQG gas GUiOOiQg, WKe miOiWaUy, aQG WKe
oceaQ.

+e eaUQeG a %acKeOoU oI ScieQce iQ MicUoEioOogy IUom WKe SWaWe UQiYeUsiWy oI CaOiIoUQia, /oQg %eacK aQG a MasWeU oI %usiQess AGmiQisWUaWioQ
IUom WKe SWaWe UQiYeUsiWy oI 1ew YoUk aW %uIIaOo. MU. CaUey seUYeG iQ WKe U.S. AUmy, acKieYiQg WKe UaQk oI CaSWaiQ.



3auO +eaUy
CKieI )iQaQciaO OIIiceU

Mr. Heary has over 20 years of experience serving in senior financial management positions for several public
and privately owned middle market manufacturers located in Western New York. Prior to joining Taylor Devices,
Inc., Mr. Heary was Chief Financial Officer of Multisorb Filtration Group, a leader in sorbent technology serving
the pharmaceutical, food, and industrial markets, from 2016 to 2022. At Multisorb, Mr. Heary played a key role in
guiding the company through its 2018 sale from a private equity owner. From 2006 to 2016, he was the Senior

Finance Director at Carleton Technologies (d.b.a. Cobham Missions Systems), a global leader in technology for the aerospace and defense
market.

Mr. Heary joined Taylor Devices in September 2022. He has BS (Accounting) and MBA degrees from The State University of New York at
Buffalo and previously held certifications for public and management accounting (CPA and CMA).

AOaQ 5� KOemEc]yk
%oaUG MemEeU WKUougK �0����202�

Since graduating from the University of Buffalo in 1987 with a degree in Mechanical Engineering, Mr. Klembczyk has
held key positions in Sales, Engineering, and Executive Management at Taylor Devices. Over the last 37 years, he has
held titles of Design Engineer, Assistant Chief Engineer, Chief Engineer, and Vice President of Sales & Engineering.
He later went on to be appointed President of the Company and a Member of the Board of Directors in June 2018.

Mr. Klembczyk has been responsible for establishing new Sales and Marketing policies and has been directly involved with defining internal
Company policy and strategic direction in cooperation with all levels of Taylor Devices' Management. He was an integral part of the team
that managed upgrades to the Quality System and obtained 3rd party certification to International Standards ISO 9001, ISO 14000, and
Aerospace Standard AS9100.

Mr. Klembczyk has served for many years on the Technical Advisory Group for the US Shock and Vibration Information & Analysis Center
(SAVIAC) and the Shock and Vibration Exchange (SAVE). In 2019, he received the Distinguished Service Award from SAVE. Additionally, he
has been a tutorial and course instructor for various organizations internationally and has participated in many technical conferences and
symposia. He is a founding member and first co-chair of the Industry Partner Committee of the US Resilience Council.

Mr. Klembczyk has participated in many research projects for products for military and aerospace, industrial, and structural applications.
He has served as Program Manager for many of these projects and has worked with academia including the University at Buffalo's MCEER:
Earthquake Engineering to Extreme Events, among others.

He has published several papers describing unique applications for structural dampers, tuned mass dampers, vibration isolators, shock
absorbers, and shock isolators, and holds US Patents for some of these components. These papers have been published by SAVE, SAVIAC,
the Society for Experimental Mechanics (SEM), and the Applied Technology Council (ATC).

7imoWKy -� SoSko
CKieI E[ecuWiYe OIIiceU aQG %oaUG MemEeU
Mr. Sopko's business experience spans more than thirty years in Aerospace (Military and Civil), Industrial, as
well as Commercial markets with a primary focus on Engineering, Product Development, Program Management,
Operations, and Business Management.

Prior to joining Taylor Devices as CEO in April 2019, Mr. Sopko was Vice President and General Manager of Carleton
Technologies Inc. (d.b.a. Cobham Mission Systems) in Orchard Park, New York, a Department of Defense Contractor. While there, he also
held the positions of General Manager, Director of Engineering and Programs, Director of Engineering, and Director of Business Development.
Under Mr. Sopko's leadership as VP and GM, Carleton successfully grew its annual sales from $110m to over $200m.

After nine years of Design Engineering and Program Management in the industry (1988-1997), Mr. Sopko co-founded Comprehensive
Technical Solutions Inc., a New York State S-corporation that provided product design engineering services to companies across the United
States, as well as produces and supports a portfolio of internally funded products.

Mr. Sopko is a Mechanical Engineering graduate of The State University of New York at Buffalo where he was also a member of The
University's Mechanical and Aerospace Dean's Advisory Board for over 11 years. Mr. Sopko is also an author and/or co-author of several US
Patents.
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